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SYMBOLS THAT BIND COMMUNITIES

THE TALLINN ALTARPIECES OF RODE AND NOTKE
AS EXPRESSIONS OF THE LOCAL SAINTS’ CULT

ANU MAND

The cult of saints was one of the most important factors in constructing and
maintaining collective identities in the Middle Ages. Communities of different
types and size (from territorial entities, dioceses and towns to religious houses,
churches, guilds, crafts etc.) usually each had their own patron saint or saints.
The veneration and depiction of a specific saint and the rituals connected to his/
her cult functioned as identity markers for a particular group and assisted in
strengthening social cohesion.!

One of the principal sources for studying the cult of saints is formed by their
visual representations, not only in art but in all kinds of (symbolic) objects.
Particularly informative in this respect are the art commissions by a specific
group or an individual, because - as the surviving contracts between the cus-
tomers and the artists indicate - it was generally the former who decided which
saints and other holy persons were to be depicted in commissioned objects.?
Thus, an artwork can reveal the patron saint(s) of a guild or confraternity, a
noble house, a private individual and so forth. The question becomes more
complicated if a work of art was paid for by a larger community and depicted
several dozens of saints, e.g. a retable for the high altar of an urban par-
ish church which was not donated by a private individual but commissioned
by the church wardens in the name of the entire congregation. In instances
where the “target group” consisted of hundreds of people of different social
statuses and positions, it is often difficult to figure out who had the final word
in the shaping of the iconographic programme, and why exactly some saints
were chosen and not others who were equally popular in the given community
at that time.

This article focuses on two late-fifteenth century altarpieces produced for
churches in Tallinn (Ger. Reval). Both of them were commissioned from famous
artists in Liibeck and completed temporally close to one another. The first, made
by Hermen Rode and his workshop during the years 1478-81, was meant for the
high altar of St. Nicholas’ Church? The second, produced in the workshop of
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Bernt Notke and finished in 1483, was made for the high altar of the Holy Spirit
Church.* Both are two-winged altarpieces: a type that was widespread in the late
medieval Baltic Sea region. In the first and second views, various saints and their
legends can be seen, whereas the fully open altarpieces display a sculpted corpus
and wings.

In order to study the iconographic programme of the altarpieces and to dis-
cuss what social groups might have influenced the selection of the saints to be
depicted, it is essential to set these artworks in their historical and social context
and to investigate the data on the saints’ cult in late-fifteenth century Tallinn,
particularly within the communities of St. Nicholas’ and the Holy Spirit Church.
The visual language of these altarpieces also provides opportunities to analyse
how the images expressed the closeness between the saints and the community.
Although both altarpieces have been targets for scholarly studies for more than
a century, they have not been analysed from these perspectives, nor have all the
saints depicted on them been correctly identified.s

ST. NICHOLAS” CHURCH AND ITS COMMUNITY

The lower town of Tallinn was divided into two parishes: St. Nicholas’ and
St. Olaf’s. Both parish churches were large and wealthy and, by the early sixteenth
century, had about thirty side altars in addition to the high altar.® Thanks to the
surviving account book of the wardens of St. Nicholas’ Church from the years
1465-1520, and some other documents, it is possible to define the social groups
and individuals who were among the supporters of the church. The following
associations had their own altar or altars there, and regularly gathered for col-
lective services: the town council, the Great Guild of the merchants, St. Canute’s
Guild (one of the two umbrella organisations of artisans), the minters, the black-
smiths, the shoemakers, the butchers and the furriers. The goldsmiths, the stone-
masons, the painters and woodcarvers, the beer-carters and the carters paid for
masses and services.! The Brotherhood of the Black Heads (an association of
journeyman and foreign merchants) had their own pews in the northern aisle
from at least the 1470s, and from about 1492 in the recently completed New
Chapel (i.e. the chapel of St Matthew on the south side of the tower).* Of the reli-
gious confraternities, the Corpus Christi Guild, the confraternity of St. Anthony
and the confraternity of St. Job were connected to St. Nicholas’ Church.” It can-
not be excluded that some other minor guilds or confraternities also had ties
with this church, but records on them are extremely scarce and, thus far, no such
information has been found. According to a register of the churches’ income
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from about 1525, compiled during the Reformation, St. Olaf’s Guild (the other
artisans’ guild) had been among the contributors to the Corpus Christi Mass.”
However, it is not known how long ago this connection was established. Near the
altar of St. Anne, the Virgin Mary and the Holy Kinship, founded in 1476, there
existed a special sermon chair (ambo) for the non-Germans, probably the Esto-
nian peasants living in the vicinity of the town.? Thus, the congregation, in the
narrow sense, and the wider circle of supporters consisted of people of different
social statuses, occupations and ethnic groups.

The side altars founded by various guilds, crafts and private individuals were
equipped by them with liturgical vessels, books, textiles and other necessary
items, the materials, quantities and qualities of which depended on the wealth
of the donor. On some altars, there also stood an altarpiece or a statue of a saint.
Liturgical objects for the high altar, however, were ordered by the church war-
dens or received as donations. One of the wardens was traditionally a town coun-
cillor, the other a respected and influential member of the community, meaning
that, in practice, both of them were members of the mercantile elite.*

There is no information on what might have stood on the high altar prior
to the 1470s. St. Nicholas” Church was rebuilt and enlarged in about 1405-20,
and it is likely that the idea of commissioning a new altarpiece arose soon after
the reconstruction work. However, the economic crisis that reached the town
and culminated in the second third of the century” was probably the main rea-
son why this plan had to be postponed for almost fifty years. Another factor
that could have influenced the financial situation of the church was a devas-
tating plague epidemic that struck the town in 1464-65: the Great Guild and
St. Canute’s guild, for instance, lost approximately half of their members.® By
the last quarter of the fifteenth century, the economic situation had improved,
and in 1471 the wardens of St. Nicholas’ Church began to raise money for a large
silver-gilt monstrance for the high altar. The expensive vessel, the total cost of
which was 761 Riga marks, was ready in 1474.7

The next step was the commissioning of a magnificent altarpiece from
Liibeck, the leading art centre in the Baltic Sea region. This was an even more
expensive acquisition: as confirmed by the account book of the church wardens,
the total cost of the altarpiece, which arrived in Tallinn in 1481, was about 1250
Riga marks.” For the same amount of money, one could have bought two or three
stone houses in the town. It was certainly not easy for the church to gather this
much money. For instance, in the summer of 1479, the wardens organised a col-
lection in the entire town, passing from door to door, but received only around
160 marks.” Individual donations for the benefit of the new altarpiece (nige tafel)
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did not usually exceed five marks,* one of the exceptions being the donation
from the merchant Dirick Houet, who bequeathed 100 marks for that purpose.”
It is obvious that not all the donations and bequests are recorded in the account
book. As revealed by the coats of arms of the Great Guild and the Brotherhood
of the Black Heads, painted in the first and second views of the altarpiece, these
two merchants” associations were the chief forces behind the commission. Due
to the lack of sources, the exact amount of their generous support will probably
never be known.>

RETABLE OF ST. NICHOLAS’ CHURCH: THE FIRST VIEW

The magnificent two-winged altarpiece is among the largest in the Baltic Sea
region: approximately 3.5 metres high and over 6 metres wide (with the open
wings). Its first view (Plate 11 and 12) depicts three female saints on one wing
(St. Catherine of Alexandria, the Virgin Mary with the Child and St. Barbara)
and three male saints on the other (St. Victor, St. Nicholas and St. George). Five
of them are very well-known saints, who had acquired a universal position by the
late Middle Ages: they were venerated everywhere in Europe and by “everyone”.
However, one can point to several site-specific connections as well.

The Virgin Mary was the patron saint of Livonia, and of the Diocese and
Cathedral of Tallinn.” There were altars dedicated to her in every church of the
town, there were two confraternities of her name (one on Cathedral Hill, and the
other at St. Olaf’s Church), and she was among the favourite saints of the Great
Guild and the Brotherhood of the Black Heads.>* The cult of St. Catherine was
particularly promoted by the friars — under her protection stood the Dominican
church in Tallinn and the Franciscan church in Riga - but she was also vener-
ated by the Tallinn butchers, who had an altar dedicated to her and to some other
saints in St. Nicholas’ Church.” St. Barbara was associated with a good death
and was believed to protect against sudden death,?® which may explain why both
of her chapels in Tallinn were located in cemeteries. St. Barbara’s chapel on the
north side of St. Nicholas’ Church was first recorded in sources in 1342, when
a chantry of St. Barbara was founded there by the knight Helmoldus de Sagha
(from the manor of Saha in northern Estonia).”” The altar of St. Barbara in the
same chapel (later known as the Small Chapel) still existed some years after the
Reformation, in 1525-27, but at that time it was referred to as that of the furriers;*
thus, over time the right of patronage over the altar had changed or widened. The
other chapel of St. Barbara, erected in the first half of the fourteenth century, was
located outside the town walls, not far from the Smith’s (later Harju) Gate.” The
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feast days of all three virgins, depicted on the external wing, were celebrated in
Tallinn as totum duplex3°

St. Nicholas, the patron saint of the church, standing in the middle of the
other wing, was highly venerated as a protector of merchants and seafarers, par-
ticularly in the Hanse towns. In St. Nicholas’ Church, there was also an altar
dedicated to him.3

Next to him, one can see St. George, who was one of the favourite saints of
the Great Guild and the Black Heads: he was the co-patron of the guild altar in
St. Nicholas’ Church, dedicated to St. Blasius, St. George and St. Victor; he is
depicted on the central panel of the surviving altarpiece of the Black Heads (ca.
1493) and on the bench end of the confraternity (1480s).* On the north side of St.
Nicholas’ Church, there was St. George’s chapel, built in the first half of the four-
teenth century?* Like the aforementioned saints, St. George was venerated by var-
ious social layers in Livonia. Hospitals or leper-houses were dedicated to him in
Riga, Tartu (Dorpat) and Narva.® He was one of the favourite saints of the nobility
and one of the three patron saints of the Teutonic Order, which was the overlord
of Tallinn from 1346. There was a confraternity of St. George mentioned in 1419: it
was one of the minor guilds in the town, most probably active on Cathedral Hill ¢

It should also be noted that, on the external wing of the altarpiece, St. George’s
helmet has a ribbon in the Tallinn colours: red and white.” Although one can
argue that these colours were also those of St. George (the saint is frequently
depicted with a shield displaying a red cross on a white background), it is more
likely that here they were meant to be those of the town. The same colours can
also be seen in the ribbon around the Moor’s head on the coat of arms of the
Black Heads, painted on the lower end of the wing. These small details empha-
sised, on the one hand, the connection between St. George and the Black Heads
and, on the other hand, the connection between the saint and the entire urban
community. It was one of the means to make the saint “ours”.

Unlike the previously discussed saints, the third man standing on the exter-
nal wing - St. Victor of Marseilles — was barely known in the Hanseatic region.
His cult was comparatively strong in France but not in the German territories
(his feast, 21 July, was celebrated only in Trier and Metz) or Scandinavia. On the
altarpiece of St. Nicholas’ Church (and also of the Holy Spirit Church, as we shall
see later), he carries a shield with the coat of arms of Tallinn. The same emblem,
a white cross on a red background, is also depicted on his banner. As I suggested
in a study in 2003, there is plenty of evidence, written and visual, to prove that St.
Victor was the patron saint of medieval Tallinn* However, his cult did not occur
there prior to the second half of the fifteenth century, which leads to the assump-
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tion that perhaps the town managed to acquire his relic around that time. It is
also interesting that the cult of two different Victors was conflated in Tallinn: on
the altarpiece of St. Nicholas’ Church, one can recognise the legend of St. Victor
of Marseilles, but his feast day was not known there; instead, 10 October, which
is the feast of St. Victor of Xanten, was celebrated as festum duplex. In the chroni-
cle of the town councillor Johan Gellinkhusen from 1503 it is written that on 10
October, “on the day of our beloved protector and patron St. Victor”, the town
council assembled in the Great Guild Hall for a drinking feast. In 1487 the town
council commissioned three statues of St. Victor from Liibeck and placed them
at the town gates, clearly indicating the protector of the town.®

THE SECOND VIEW: VISUALISING THE CLOSENESS
TO THE COMMUNITY

The prominent position of St. Victor is even more visible in the second view of the
altarpiece, which is visually divided in two: the eight scenes on the left depict the
legend of St. Nicholas, the patron saint of the church, and the eight scenes on the
right, the legend of St. Victor, the patron saint of the town (Plate 13). Below each
scene, there is an inscription in Middle Low German, explaining what is going
on in the picture. These legends have been repeatedly described and analysed by
scholars; therefore, I will not go into further detail here.* Instead, I would like
to draw attention to two scenes that strongly emphasise the connection between
the saints and the merchant-dominated community of Tallinn.

The first is the fourth scene in the upper row, in which St. Nicholas is saving
a ship (Plate 15). The mast is broken, the merchants are busy saving their goods,
and an elderly man is making a gesture of gratitude to the saint. The text says:
Hir lyden schyplude groter not van storm vnd winde vnd se repen sunte nyclaus
an vnd he halp en [Here the shipmen suffered greatly from storm and wind and
they invoked St. Nicholas and he helped them)]. The ship is a Hanseatic cog, a
type that was most familiar to the inhabitants of any medieval Hanse town, and
it bears the coats of arms of the Great Guild and the Black Heads. The aim of the
coats of arms is not only to advertise and commemorate the donors but to con-
vey a clear message to the community: St. Nicholas’ is with us, and he protects
the merchants and sailors of our town. This scene has a central position in the
altarpiece, due to its placement (in the middle of the second view), as well as due
to its powerful symbolic meaning.

It was a widespread phenomenon in the late Middle Ages to integrate familiar
places and objects in an image in order to increase its “proximity” to the viewers.
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If a miracle or a holy story was depicted taking place in one’s own (recognis-
able and idealised) town or landscape, it integrated the daily life of the viewers
into the religious situation and strengthened the presence of the (patron) saint
in the community.# In Tallinn, as in other Hanse towns, one is likely to find
religious images that are linked to the sea and that manifest the saintly powers
of St. Nicholas and other protectors of seafarers. In some other regions that did
not have access to the sea, such images would not have had the same emotional
effect. For instance, in the mining areas of Central Europe, it was important to
stress the bond between saints and miners. A fine example of this is a panel in
the Roznava altarpiece (present day Slovakia) from 1513 depicting St. Anne with
the Virgin and Child, against a background filled with mountains and miners at
work: in this manner, the saint participated in the community’s daily effort, and
a “universal” saint was effectively turned into a “local” one.*

The last scene in the legend of St. Victor of Marseilles connects him with the
sea as well (Plate 16): executioners are throwing the decapitated body of the saint
into a river but, on the other shore, angels are lifting it up. The explanatory text,
however, clearly refers to the sea and not the river: Hir werpen se synen lycham
in dat mer vnd de engele brochten en to lande vnd wart erliken begrauen [Here
they cast his body into the sea and the angels brought him to the land and he
was honourably buried]. In the background, one recognises the panorama of the
“mother town” of Tallinn - Liibeck - a place familiar to every merchant and sea-
man of the region.*

In different versions of his legend, St. Victor of Marseilles is described as
a knight (occasionally as a bishop) who was placed between millstones and
beheaded. Only a few authors mention that afterwards his corpse was cast into
the sea,* but it was apparently this detail that made the saint so popular in har-
bour towns. In Marseilles, St. Victor was, above all, the patron saint of sailors
(as well as of millers), and his cult is claimed to have replaced that of Neptune.
A hagiographer from Marseilles added elements from the Passion of St. Phocas
(a patron saint of sailors in the Black Sea and the eastern Mediterranean) to that
of St. Victor, which shaped the image of the latter as a seafarer.* Anja Rasche has
rightfully drawn a parallel between St. Victor and St. Clement, who was tied to
an anchor and cast from a boat into the sea, but who was likewise honourably
buried by angels (as depicted, e.g., in Notke’s altarpiece in Arhus; see Fig. 3 on
page 68), and who became a protector of seafarers.*¢

The first seven scenes of the Tallinn altarpiece depict St. Victor as a brave
soldier who spreads Christianity and whose sufferings are comparable to those
of Christ - there the main role of the saint is to provide a positive religious
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model, and there is hardly anything “local” in the landscape elements in the
background. However, the last scene indicates that it was particularly important
for the community of St. Nicholas’ Church to emphasise the saint’s connection
to the sea.# After all, it was the wish of each merchant and sailor that, if the
worst happened at sea, his body would be found and honourably buried in the
Christian manner. Similarly to the image where St. Nicholas is saving the ship,
this one also communicates the closeness between the community and its saint:
St. Victor is with us, he protects us, he is our saint.

THE THIRD VIEW: PARADE OF SAINTS

In the fully open altarpiece (Plate 14), there are three types of sculptures. First,
the large (approx. 70 cm high) figures of saints arranged in two rows. In the mid-
dle of the upper row, one can see Christ blessing the crowned Virgin (a sub-type
of the Coronation of the Virgin).** In the middle of the lower row, one recognises
St. Anne with the Virgin and Child. Both central scenes are flanked by standing
figures of saints; there are a total of 28 of them. The second type of sculpture con-
sists of the eight half-figures (approx. 45 cm high) in the predella, two of which
were replaced, probably in the late seventeenth or the first half of the eighteenth
century. Third, there are small figures (approx. 25 cm high) placed on the pillars
between the large figures.

What has caused major difficulty for scholars in identifying the saints is
the fact that several figures have lost their attributes and some of them even
their hands, the positions of which would perhaps have indicated what they
were holding. For instance, it was quite obvious to nineteenth-century schol-
ars, who provided the first descriptions of this work of art, that the upper row
begins with St. Nicholas and ends with St. Victor, and between them stand the
twelve Apostles. However, since only half of the Apostles still had their attrib-
utes, it was only possible to identify with certainty Sts. John, Andrew, Philip and
James the Greater. More attributes, including those of some Apostles, were lost
or misplaced during World War IT and during the restoration of the altarpiece in
Moscow in the 1980s. All this has made the identification of several saints prob-
lematic, although almost every scholar who has dealt with the subject has made
some useful observations.

Carl Ruflwurm (1841), Wilhelm Neumann (1892), Sten Karling (1946) and
Villem Raam (1976) relied on the attributes and sometimes also on the clothing
of the figures.# In Raam’s book on Gothic wooden sculpture in Estonia (which
largely summarises Karling’s monograph), the following list is provided. The
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upper row, from left to right (from the viewer’s perspective): St. Nicholas, the
apostles James the Lesser, Paul, Thomas, Andrew, John and Peter, and left from
the central scene: Sts. Matthew, James the Greater, Philip, Bartholomew, Simon,
Jude Thaddeus and Victor. The lower row: two unknown virgins, Sts. Barbara,
Ursula, Maurice, Eleutherius and John the Baptist, and left from the St. Anne-
group: Sts. Cyriacus, Lawrence, George, Hedvig of Silesia, Gertrude, Birgitta of
Sweden and Elizabeth of Thuringia.

New opportunities for the identification of the saints opened up during the
restoration of the altarpiece in Moscow in the first half of the 1980s, when it was
discovered that behind each of the 28 standing figures there was a drawing (or
rather a sketch) of his or her attribute. However, since the primary interest of the
chief restorer, Nikolai Bregman, was not in iconography, he published only five
underdrawings: those of St. John the Baptist and of the four virgins on the left
wing.>°

The next scholar to study the altarpiece was Anja Rasche, who wrote her
Master’s thesis (1994) on this work of art. Based on the sketches of attributes
published by Bregman, she identified the four virgins as Sts Apollonia, Dorothy,
Barbara and Catherine of Alexandria. Due to close observation of the figures,
Rasche was also able to correctly identify St. Matthew (formerly thought to be
St. James the Lesser), St. Bartholomew (formerly thought to be Philip) and St.
Matthias (formerly thought to be Jude Thaddeus). She also suggested that the
Apostle on the right side of the central scene (i.e. the “twin” of St. Peter who
stands on the left) must be St. Paul* Undoubtedly, she would also have recog-
nised St. Thomas with a spear, had the spear not been moved (by the restorers?)
and placed with the alleged St. Maurice in the lower row.

A systematic study and documentation of the sketches was carried out in
2006-2007 on my initiative (Plates 17-30). With regard to the Apostles in the
upper row, it was possible to confirm Rasche’s suggestions concerning St. Bar-
tholomew and St. Paul (the drawings represent, respectively, a butcher’s knife
and a sword), and to finally identify St. Thomas (a spear) on the left wing and
St. Simon (a saw) on the right wing. Behind the apostle next to St. Simon, a club
is drawn. The saint in question may therefore be either St. Jude Thaddeus or St.
James the Lesser, because both of them were, in the Hanseatic region, depicted
with this particular attribute. One can perhaps find St. Jude with a club more
frequently than St. James the Lesser, whose other well-known attribute was a
fuller’s staff (e.g., in Notke’s Arhus altarpiece). The position next to St. Simon
could also provide evidence of it being St. Jude; however, one cannot be entirely
certain which of the two Apostles is depicted theres
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A jar of ointment drawn behind the female saint, formerly regarded as
St. Hedvig, allows us to identify her as St. Mary Magdalene (Plates 25-26). In
the late Middle Ages, there were different traditions in depicting this ambivalent
saint; here, the artist has chosen the type of the pious and repentant woman with
her head covered with a veil (in contrast to the luxuriously dressed and turban-
wearing princess-like Magdalene in Notke’s triumphal crucifix in the Liibeck
Cathedral). It is also relevant to note that Mary Magdalene was a well-known
and deeply venerated saint in medieval Tallinn (e.g., there was an altar dedicated
to her in St. Olaf’s Church®); whereas St. Hedvig was practically unknown in
Livonia.

A similar problem concerns two male saints in the lower row, formerly
regarded as St. Cyriacus and St. Eleutherius>* The first is grasping the Devil by
the hair, while the other is carrying a monstrance (Plate 27 and 29). Although
the mentioned saints were indeed sometimes depicted with these attributes,
the Devil and a monstrance were also characteristic of some other saints. And,
what is even more important, Sts. Cyriacus and Eleutherius were very little, if
at all, known in medieval Tallinn and, therefore, it would not have made sense
to choose them to be depicted on the altarpiece. Moreover, the location of the
alleged Cyriacus - he flanks the central group, thus having a position equally
significant to St. John the Baptist on the other side - indicates that the figure in
question must have been someone very important to the community. The under-
drawing depicts the Devil and a sword, revealing the presently missing weapon
that the saint had in his right hand. If we consider these attributes, as well as
some characteristic details of the saint’s clothing and the diadem decorating his
forehead, it is clear that the figure is St. Michael the Archangel. The fact that he
lacks wings is not important, because there are several wingless Michaels that
have survived from the late medieval art of northern Europe. St. Michael was
enormously popular in Tallinn, being, among others, venerated by the influ-
ential butchers’ craft, whose members formed the confraternity of St. Michael
and who also had an altar dedicated to St. Michael and some other saints in the
chapel of St. Matthew of St. Nicholas’ Church >

The alleged Eleutherius (or, according to Suckale-Redlefsen, St. Norbert*)
with a monstrance is actually St. Blasius (Plate 29), one of the patron saints of the
Litbeck Cathedral and one of the Fourteen Holy Helpers, who was very popular
in medieval Livonia. His cult in Tallinn was particularly promulgated by the
Great Guild: St. Blasius was the main patron saint of the oldest and most impor-
tant altar of this guild, mentioned in sources from the early fifteenth century
onwards.” It should be noted that the tradition of depicting St. Blasius with a
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monstrance was limited to a very narrow region in northern Germany: most of
the examples can be found in the Cathedral of Liibeck (among others, Notke’s tri-
umphal crucifix, rood screen and Lay Altarpiece), but also in St. Mary’s Church
in Rostock (the St. Roch Altarpiece from ca. 1525/30). Elsewhere in Europe,
St. Blasius was depicted with a candle or an iron comb, but Rode’s workshop
naturally followed the local, that is the Liibeck, pictorial traditions (just as Bernt
Notke did)s®

The last falsely identified saint in the lower row is the soldier saint standing
next to St. Blasius (Plates 29—30). Before the restoration in the 1980s, when all the
figures had dark faces, he was unanimously regarded as St. Maurice.” Indeed,
this opinion seems entirely logical if one considers the importance of St. Mau-
rice in Livonia. This saint was particularly popular among the Brotherhood of
the Black Heads who, according to the presence of their coat of arms, played an
important part in commissioning this work of art. The identification was further
supported by the fact that, at some point, the spear of St. Thomas was placed with
this soldier, and a spear, as is well known, is the main attribute of St. Maurice.
However, once the figure was cleaned, it turned out to be a man of fair complex-
ion and blond hair. Although in many parts of Europe St. Maurice was depicted
as white, in Livonia (as in the eastern German territories in general) he was por-
trayed as a black African with distinctly Negroid features.®

The underdrawing shows that the true attributes of this saint are a sword
and a crowned head (the latter was probably located at the feet of the soldier).
On the shield, cleaned during the restoration, one can see a raised lion on a red
and greyish-blue background. All this leads to the conclusion that the figure in
question is St. Reinold, the patron saint of the town of Dortmund. According
to a legend, he was Charlemagne’s nephew. During one of his adventures, he
beheaded the heathen King Saforet, and that explains his attribute: a crowned
head attached to the point of a sword. The feast day of St. Reinold was celebrated
on 7 January. He was venerated and depicted in medieval Germany either as
a knight or a monk-stonemason. The oldest known representation of him is a
nearly three-meter high wooden sculpture in St. Reinold’s Church in Dortmund,
made in the first half of the fourteenth century. In this and some other works of
art, he is dressed in armour and carries a shield with the lion of Flanders. The
centres of the cult of St. Reinold were Westphalia and Rhineland, and both of
these regions had close connections to medieval Livonia.”

Thus far, the earliest known reference to St. Reinold in Livonian sources
was from 1487, when the Brotherhood of the Black Heads in Riga founded a
chantry in honour of Sts. George, Maurice, Gertrude, Francis and Reinold in
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St. Peter’s Church. It was assumed that the cult of St. Reinold reached Livonia
from the Prussian Artushdfe, particularly from that in Danzig (Gdansk).* In
those Prussian elite confraternities, St. Reinold was venerated as a knightly saint
and depicted with the head of Saforet.®

However, thus far I have found no evidence of the Black Heads in Tallinn
venerating St. Reinold. On the other hand, considering the close economic,
social and family connections with Riga and Danzig, the saint could hardly have
been unknown in the Tallinn brotherhood.

There is evidence that St. Reinold was the patron saint of the Tallinn stonema-
sons. Moreover, the centre of his veneration was St. Nicholas’ Church. According
to the account book of the church wardens, the stonemasons annually celebrated
St. Reinold’s Day on 7 January and paid for the ringing of the church bells, organ
music and the Eucharistic wine and bread. Regular entries of their payment sur-
vive from 1489 until the Reformation.®* However, since on our altarpiece St. Rei-
nold is depicted as a soldier and not as a monk-stonemason, it remains question-
able whether he was chosen due to the influence of the stonemasons (or of the
stonemasons exclusively). This sculpture is the earliest evidence for the cult of
St. Reinold in Livonian towns, even earlier than the foundation of the chantry
in Riga. Compared to the other saints depicted on the altarpiece, St. Reinold was
a saint venerated in very few parts of Europe. Therefore, it deserves particular
attention that he was preferred to some other saints well-known in medieval Tal-
linn, and that he was given such a prominent position in the central part of the
altarpiece. The possible promoters of his cult in Tallinn should be investigated
in more detail in the future, as well as the question of whether his cult reached
Tallinn through the Prussian Artushdfe or directly from Westphalia (Dortmund
and Soest) or the Rhineland (Cologne).

A couple of remarks are necessary concerning the figures of the female saints
in the lower row of the wings. First, it is somewhat surprising to find St. Apollo-
nia among the four virgins (Plate 23). The four capital virgins (Lat. quattuor vir-
gines capitales), frequently depicted in medieval art, were Sts. Barbara, Catherine
of Alexandria, Margaret of Antioch and Dorothy.® Judging from the number
of altars dedicated to St. Margaret in Tallinn, she was much more popular than
Apollonia: there was a St. Margaret’s altar in three churches - St. Nicholas’,
St. Olaf’s and the Holy Spirit® — whereas the only known altar of St. Apollonia
was in St. Nicholas’ Church. The patronal right over this altar, which was occa-
sionally also called the St. Crispin and Crispinian altar, belonged to the shoe-
makers.” Although St. Apollonia was rather well-known in the Baltic Sea region,
the cult of St. Margaret was much stronger; she was also one of the Fourteen
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Holy Helpers, whose veneration reached a climax in the late fifteenth and the
first decades of the sixteenth centuries.®® Hence, it may have been due to the
influence of the shoemakers that St. Apollonia is standing in the altarpiece and
not St. Margaret.

The four women in the other wing (Plate 25) also express certain local idio-
syncrasies in the saints’ cult. St. Mary Magdalene was already mentioned above.
Next to her stands St. Gertrude of Nivelles, who in the Hanse towns was ven-
erated as a patron of travellers, including merchants.® In Tallinn, there was a
chapel of St. Gertrude outside the town walls, near the harbour’® A guild of
St. Gertrude, which presumably united sailors and foreign travellers, was men-
tioned in 1451 and 1460.” St. Gertrude was among the favourite saints of the Black
Heads: she was a co-patron of their first altar, consecrated in 1403 in honour of
the Virgin Mary, St. Gertrude and St. Dorothy, and she is depicted in their extant
altarpiece’> On the other hand, the depiction of St. Birgitta indicates the spread
of religious influence from geographically close Sweden. Even more important in
the local context was the erection of the Birgittine Convent of Mariental (nowa-
days Pirita) in the vicinity of Tallinn in the first third of the fifteenth century.”
St. Elizabeth of Thuringia, one of the patron saints of the Teutonic Order, was
popular in Tallinn mainly as a hospital saint, a consoler of the sick and poor.

The limited scope of this article does not allow me to discuss in detail
the small figures standing on the pillars between the large ones. Presumably,
they depict prophets and patriarchs, just like on Notke’s triumphal crucifix in
Liibeck . There were originally 36 of them, but only 29 have been preserved and
four of these are newer, made in the late seventeenth or the first half of the eigh-
teenth century”s On three medieval figures one can see fragments of a metal
scroll: it is quite likely that most (if not all) of the figures held scrolls with their
names on them. The sequence of those figures in the altarpiece has been changed
several times and the original arrangement cannot be ascertained.

Unlike the large figures of the saints, the eight half-figures in the predella
have no sketches of attributes behind them. Thus far, scholars have regarded
them as Old Testament figures’ or, more precisely, as prophets.”” Three of them
are wearing oriental or Jewish headgear, which indeed seems to support this
opinion. However, it makes more sense that the half-figures would be icono-
graphically connected to the paintings on the wings of the predella. There one
can see four groups of people from the Holy Kinship, depicting Esmeria (the
sister of St. Anne) and her descendants. The sister of St. Anne comparatively
rarely turns up in art, and never without the main characters of the Holy Kin-
ship. Moreover, one of the figures in the predella (the third one from the left,
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holding a hat in his hand) can be identified as St. Joseph, the spouse of the Virgin
Mary. Therefore, I propose that the eight half-figures were originally the three
husbands of St. Anne (Joachim, Cleophas and Salome), Joseph, and the half-
sisters of Mary with their husbands.

Some of the half-figures no longer stand in their original places. The sequence
was probably changed in the seventeenth or eighteenth century, when two of the
figures - those of Mary Cleophas and Mary Salome — were replaced by new, male
figures’® I assume that originally those women were the second figure from the
left and the second from the right. Obviously, the topic of the Holy Kinship did
not fit the Lutheran context and this led to the changes in the iconographic pro-
gramme of the altarpiece.

However, in medieval Tallinn, St. Anne (and the Holy Kinship) was enor-
mously popular, particularly from the second half of the fifteenth century
onwards: there were at least four altars dedicated to her, a confraternity of her
name, and she was depicted in several altarpieces and artefacts’® In all likeli-
hood, the commissioners of the Rode altarpiece wished the Holy Kinship to be
part of its pictorial programme. However, since there were so many saints to
be depicted there, the artist found a clever solution: he placed St. Anne with
the Virgin and Child in the middle of the lower row of the corpus, and the less
important members of the Holy Kinship in the predella.

The saints and other holy persons in the fully open altarpiece are subject to
vertical and horizontal hierarchies: the most important figures in all three levels
are in the centre; the Apostles and the patrons of the church and the city are
placed higher than the other saints; the most important Apostles stand in the
corpus, flanking the heavenly scene with the Virgin and Christ; in the lower row,
the more important saints are again placed right next to the central group; and
in the predella, St. Joseph and the three husbands of Anne have a more promi-
nent place than the other characters of the Holy Kinship. In the upper row, one
can even notice a certain degree of difference between the (heraldically) right
and the left wings: the Apostles on the right wing (the viewer’s left) are more
important than those on the left.

The complex iconographic programme of the altarpiece was probably fixed
during the negotiations between Rode’s workshop and the clients. It cannot be
excluded that a sketch was made as a part of the contract. As mentioned above,
the visual evidence - the coats of arms of the Great Guild and the Black Heads
- indicates that the merchants had a leading role in this commission. The choice
of the saints points in the same direction: in particular St. Victor, St. Nicho-
las, the Virgin Mary, St. George, St. Blasius and St. John the Baptist, but also
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St. Gertrude, St. Dorothy and St. Catherine: all of them were highly venerated
by the merchants’” associations. Nevertheless, it is likely that the retable for the
high altar not only reflected the preferences of one particular, albeit very influen-
tial group, but that the wishes of other social layers and corporations connected
to this church were also taken into account. As discussed above, it is probable
that some of the crafts, such as the butchers, shoemakers and stonemasons, may
have had influence on the selection of the saints as well. Certainly one cannot
forget the preferences of the parish priest and other clerics serving in St. Nicho-
las’ Church. It cannot even be excluded that a wealthy individual who donated
a large sum for the acquisition of this work of art requested his favourite saint to
be depicted there.

After surveying the multi-level connections between the depicted saints and
the community, it is relevant to ask which of the saints who were popular in
Tallinn were not depicted in this altarpiece. St. Margaret has already been men-
tioned, but the same concerns, for example, St. Anthony the Great, who had a
guild of his name in Tallinn, St. Christopher, one of the Holy Helpers and one of
the favourite saints of the Great Guild and the Black Heads, St. Canute the King,
the patron of the guild of the same name, St. Olaf, likewise the patron of a guild
and of the other parish church, St. Luke, the patron of the painters and wood-
carvers, St. Eloy of the goldsmiths, and so on. It would certainly be no more than
speculation to guess the reasons for leaving them out. Some of the listed saints
(e.g. Sts. Canute, Christopher and Anthony) had their own altars in St. Nicholas’
Church, either prior to the commission of the Rode altarpiece or afterwards.
St. Olaf was most probably not selected because he, as the patron of the other
parish, was a “rival” to St. Nicholas. A similar kind of careful selection of saints
can also be seen in the Bernt Notke altarpiece.

RETABLE OF THE HOLY SPIRIT CHURCH

The church of the Holy Spirit (Est. Pitha Vaimu) was connected with the hospi-
tal of the same name. It was situated in the town centre, almost on the border-
line between the two parishes, although in practice it was within the parish of
St. Olaf. In all likelihood, the hospital was founded by the town council. Among
the obligations of the priest was the pastoral care of the hospital sick and poor, as
well as of other hospital inmates, including retired clerics. The church was also
used for the assemblies of the town council.®

It was the town council who ordered the new retable from Liibeck, which,
according to the inscription, was completed in 1483.* In all three views, one can
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see the coats of arms with the white cross on a red background - in this par-
ticular context they signal the city and not the Great Guild. There also exists a
letter from 24 May 1484, written by Bernt Notke to the town council of Tallinn,
in which he reminds the councillors that they owe him some money for a tafel
(i.e. altarpiece) which he has made at their request. Prior to World War II, there
also existed another letter of Notke, from 3 May, but this has been lost.®* In both
letters, Notke indicated that the commissioners were the burgomaster Diderick
Hagenbeke® and his companion, i.e. the two wardens of the Holy Spirit Church.

The iconographic programme of the altarpiece was designed to suite the con-
text of a hospital church: it depicts physical suffering, but also promises the grace
of God. On the outer wings (Plate 31), one can see Christ as the Man of Sorrows
and St. Elizabeth of Thuringia (1207-31), who was known for taking care of the
sick and poor and whose images can often be found in hospitals.®* The coats of
arms of Tallinn beneath them are remarkably large, advertising the influential
donor. The coat of arms below Christ is attached to his cross and decorated with
other Instruments of the Passion. One of the three nails creates the impression
that the shield is nailed to the vertical beam. The blood from Christ’s wounds
drops into the chalice placed on the top of the coat of arms and containing both
the blood and the Host, visualising the concept of transubstantiation.

The paintings of the second view depict the Legend of St. Elizabeth and the
Passion of Christ. The scenes in which St. Elizabeth performs acts of mercy,
and in which parallels are drawn between taking care of the infirm and Christ
(Matt. 25: 35-40), again fit particularly well in the context of a hospital church.
In one image, St. Elizabeth is taking care of beggars and lepers, not noticing that
the leper whose feet she is washing is Christ himself (Plate 32, upper scene on
the right). In medieval sermons and exempla, Christ was said to have visited the
world disguised as a leper.®s Thus, the viewers of this altarpiece were constantly
reminded of the biblical concept that by aiding the sick and poor they were aid-
ing our Saviour. The same idea is expressed in the scene below it, depicting the
Miracle of the Crucifix. According to a legend, once St. Elizabeth allowed a leper
to rest in her own marriage bed, and the servants complained about this to her
husband. However, when Margrave Ludwig came home, the sick body of the
leper had transformed into the Holy Body, the crucified Christ (Plate 32, lower
scene on the right).

The sculpted corpus of the fully opened altarpiece depicts the miracle of the
Pentecost, i.e. the descent of the Holy Spirit (Plate 86). This scene makes a visual
reference to the dedication of the church. In the centre, the Virgin Mary is seated
on a throne, while the twelve Apostles have gathered around her. The dove - the
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symbol of the Holy Spirit — has been lost, as have most of the small statuettes of
prophets that once stood on the background pillars (only two of them, Job and
Tobias, survive, holding scrolls with their names). The kneeling figure in the
left foreground differs from the rest. On the one hand, he is meant to be one of
the Apostles (without him, there would not be twelve); on the other hand, he is
depicted in a typical donor position (frontispiece). Although scholars have made
various suggestions concerning his identity,* none of these has been convincing.

In the left wing stand the figures of St. Olaf and St. Anne with the Virgin
and Child, and in the right wing St. Elizabeth and St. Victor. Thus, the central
scene is flanked by the patron saint of the parish in which the church was located
and by the patron saint of the town. Most of the tiny figures that once stood
on the pillars between the large figures have been lost. Only two such figures,
St. Catherine of Alexandria and St. Dorothy, can be found on the pillars fram-
ing the corpus. It is likely that the missing figures, too, depicted saints (and not
some other holy persons), similarly to Notke’s altarpiece in the Arhus Cathedral.
In the pseudo-predella, there are half-figures of St. Barbara, St. John the Baptist,
St. Anthony the Great and St. Gertrude. In the tabernacle above the corpus is the
scene of the Coronation of the Virgin (Plate 86).

The connection between all these saints and the community of late medi-
eval Tallinn was already pointed out in the analysis of the previous altarpiece.
In addition, some of the saints, depicted in the Notke altarpiece, had altars dedi-
cated to them in the Holy Spirit Church: the Virgin Mary, St. Victor, St. Anne, St.
Anthony, St. Gertrude and some of the Apostles.” Thus, the saints chosen to be
represented in this retable reflect the cults popular in the entire town in the late
fifteenth century, and more specifically in this church. The mercantile elite and
other supporters of the Holy Spirit Church could admire and pray to their favour-
ite saints depicted in the most solemn view of the altarpiece. The particular close-
ness to the hospital community was expressed through the images of the suffering
Christ and of the acts of mercy by St. Elizabeth. The iconographic programme as a
whole gave hope for the healing of the body and the soul, and promised salvation.

The high altar was the liturgical centre of the church and, as such, the most
desirable and prestigious place for expressing one’s religious and earthly aspira-
tions. For a medieval man, the saints did more than simply decorate an altar:
through their painted or carved images, they were “physically” present among
the faithful during the masses and prayers. The selection of the saints depicted
in these two Tallinn altarpieces reveals a great deal about the local preferences
in the saints’ cults, which, in turn, was influenced by venerations in culturally
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and economically related regions, as well as in the supra-territorial military and
religious orders that were active in Livonia.

The commission of the retable for the high altar of the parish church of
St. Nicholas was a collective undertaking and, therefore, its iconography reflects
the interests of several social groups, although certainly more those of the rich
and powerful - the merchants. This is also visualised by the scenes that underline
the symbolic relationship between the saints, the sea and trade: the saints protect
the local community and the community is present in the images. The pictorial
programme of the retable of the Holy Spirit Church was shaped to correspond to
the needs of a hospital church, but at the same time it also expressed the religious
preferences of the town council and indicated its role as the hospital’s patron and
benefactor.

The coats of arms of the donors in both altarpieces had multiple functions:
they had to emphasise the wealth and status of these organisations, to perpetuate
their gracious deeds and to grant them intercessory prayers. These altarpieces
and their visual language can be regarded as powerful symbols for the com-
munity - as focal points of the cult, as large and expensive objects reflecting the
communal pride, as images communicating the closeness between the commu-
nity and its saints, and as bearers of the collective memory.
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